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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE DISTRICT OF PUERTO RICO

)
U.S. COMMODITY FUTURES TRADING )
COMMISSION, )
)

Plaintiff, ) CASENO., 3:12-0v-1083 (JAF)
)
\Z )
)
ACJ CAPITAL, INC., )
SOLID VIEW CAPITAL LLC, )
ANGEL FERNANDO COLLAZO, )
FELGI INVESTMENTS CORP, and )
FERNANDO CLEMENTE, )
)
Defendants, )
‘ )
)
)

PRORQSER] CONSENT ORDER OF PERMANENT INJUNCTION,
CIVIL MONETARY PENALTY AND ¥OR OTHER EQUITABLE RELIEF
AGAINST DEFENDANTS ACJ CAPITAL, INC., SOLID VIEW CAPITAL LLC

AND ANGEL FERNANDO COLLAZO, ‘

On Febuaty 8, 2012, U.S. Commodity Futures Trading Commission (the “Plaintiff” or
“Commission”) filed a Complaint for Infunctive Rellef; Ctvil Monetary };enalties and Other
Equitable Relief against ACY Capital, Inc, (“ACI"), Solid View Capital LLC (“Solid View") and
Angel Fernando Collazo, (cc;llecﬁvely, “Setfling Defendants”), On July 3, 2012, Plaintiff filed
its First Amended Complaint for Injunctive Relief, Civil Monetary Penalties and Other Equitable
Relief (“Amended Complaint”), The Amended Complaint named two additional defendants,
Felgi Investments Corp.'(“Felgi”) and Fornando Clemente (“Clemente”), The Amended
Complaint seeks injunctive and other equitable relief for violations of the Commodity Exchange

Act (the “Act”), as amended by the Food, Consetvation, and Energy Act of 2008, Pub, L. No,
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110-246, Title X111 (the CFTC Reauthorization Act 0f 2008 (“CRA™), 7US.C. §§ 1 ef seq.

(2006 & Supp. 1112009),
L CONSENTS AND AGREEMENTS

To effect settloment of all charges alleged in the Amended Complaint against ACJ, Solid .
View and Collazo without a trial on the meits or further judioial proceedings, the Settling
_ Defendants:
1. Consent to the entry of this Consent Order of Permanont Injunction, Civil
Monetaty Penalty and For Othet Equitable Relief (“Consent Ordet”);
2. | Affirn that Collazo and the authorized representative of ACY and Solid View -
have read and agtee to this Congent Oxder yoluntatily, and that no ptomise, other than ag
spocifically contained hetein, ot threat has been made by the Commission or any membet,
officer, agent or representative theteof, or by any other person, to induce consent to this Consent
Order;
3, Acknowledge setvice upon them of the summons and Complaint,
4, Admit the jurisdiction of this Coutt over them and the subject mattor of this action
putsuant to Section 6(c) of the Act, ag amended, 7US.C. § i3a—1 ;
"3, Admit the jurisdiction of the Commission over the conduot and transactions at
jssue in this action pursuant to thé Act, 7US.C. §§ 1, ef seq.;
6 Admit that venue propetly lies with this Coutt pursuant to Section 6(c) of the Act,
as amended, 7 U.S.C. § 13a-1(e);
7. Watve:
a any and all claims that they may possess under the Equal Access to Justice

Act, 5 U.S.C. § 504 (2006) and 28 US.C. § 2412 (2006), and/ot the rules promulgated by the
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Commission in confotmity therewith, Patt 148 of the Regulations, 17 CF.R, §§ 148.1-30,
(2012), relating to, ot atising from? this action;

b. atty and all claims that they may possess under the Small Business
Regulatory Bnfotcetent Fairness Act of 1996, Pub, 1. No, 104-121, §§201-253, 110 Stat. 847,
857-868 (1996), as amended by Pub, L. No, 110-28, § 8302, 121 Stat, 112, 204-205 (2007),
relating to or atising from this action;

¢, any claim of Double Jeopatdy based upon the institution of this action or
the entry in this action of any order imposing a civil monetary penalty or any other relief,
including this Consent Order; and
| d. any and all rights of appeal from this action;

8, Consent to the continued jurisdiction of tﬁis Court over them for the purpose of
iﬁxplementing and enforoing the terms and conditions of this Consent Order and for any other
putpose relovant to this action, even if ACJ, Solid View and Collazo now, ot in the future, reside
or conduoct business outgide the jurisdiction of this .Court',

9. Agree that they will not oppose 5nforcement of this Consent Order by alleging
that it fails to comply with Rule 65(d) of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure and waivo any
objection based thereon;

10,  Agree that neither they nor any of their agents or etployees undet theit authority
or conirol shall take any action or make any public statement denying, diiecﬂy ot indirectly, any
allegation in the Amended Complaint or the Findings of Fact or éonolusions of Law in this
Consent Ordet, ot ereating or tending to cteate the impression that the Amended Complaint
and/or this Consent Order is without a factual basis; provided, however, that nothing in this

provision shall affect their: (a) testimonial obligations; or (b) tight to take legal positions it




Case 3:12-cv-01083-JAF Document 67 Filed 02/13/13 Page 4 of 28

other proceedings to which the Commission is not a party. Settling Defendants shall undertake
-all steps necessary to ensure that all of their agents and/or employees under their authority or
control understand and comply with this agreoment;

11, By consenting to the entry of this Consent Order, Settling Defendants neither admit
nor deny the allegations c;f the Amended Complaint or the Findings of Fact and Conclusions of
Law in this Consent Order, except as to jurisdiction and venue, which they admit. Futther,
Settiin g Defendants agree and intexlxd that the allegations contained in the Amended Complaint
and all of the Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law contained in this Consent Order shall be
talcen as ttue anci cotrect and be given preclusive effect, without forther proof, in the coutse of:
(a) any cotrent or subsequent bankruptey procesding filed by, on behalf of, or against them; (b)
any proceeding putsuant to Section 8a of the Act, as amended, 7 U.S.C. § 12a, and/or Part 3 of
the Regulations, 17 CE.R. §§ 3.1 ef seq, (2011); and/ot (¢) any proceeding to enforoe the terms
of this Consent Order;

12, Agreo to provide immediate notice to this Coutt and the Commission by certified
matl, in the matmer requited by paragraph 2 of Part V of this Consent Ordet, of any bankruptey
proceeding filed by, on behalf of, or against them whether inside or outside the United States;
and

13, Agree thatno provision of this Consent Order shall in any way limit ot impait the
ability of any other person or entity to seek any legal or equitable remedy against Settling

Defendants in any other proceeding,
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IL.  FINDINGS AND CONCLUSIONS

Findings of Tact

A, The Parties

1. Plaintiff U.S, Commodity Futures Trading Commission is an independent
federal regulatory agency that is charged by Congress with the administration and enforcement ‘
of the Act, 7 U.8.C. §§ 1 et seq., and the Commission Regulations promulgated thereunder, 17
CFR. §§ 1.1 et seq. The Commiséion maintains its principal office at Three Lafayette Centre,
1155 21% Street, N.W., Washington, D.C. 20581,

2. Settling Defendant ACY Capital,. Ine, is a cotporation registered in the
Commonwealth of Puerto Rico (Register No, 176089). The offices of ACT are located at
Urbanizaclon Roosevelt, Calle Juan Devilla #476, San Juan, Puerto Rico. ACY was incorporated
in the state of New Jersey, According to atticles of incorporation filed in 2002, Collazo served
a3 the registered agent and sole member of ACI’s board of directors, As of August 10, 2007,
ACT was registered with the Commission as a Commodity Trading Advisor (“CTA”). On
Januaty 4, 2009, National Futures Association (“NFA*), a registered fututes assoo.iation and
industty self-tegulatory organization to whom the Commission delegaited certain vegistiation
telated responstbilities, withdrew ACI’s CTA registration for faiture to file a timely renewal. On
Februaty 3,2010, after ACT and Collazo failed to tespond to a complaint lodged by the NFA®s
business conduct committee, the NFA. permanently barred ACJ from NFA membetship and froin
acting as a principal of an NFA member, The NFA found that ACT and Collazo provided false
information to customers about the petformance of their accounts and provided customers‘ with

fictitious account statements that showed significant equity In their accounts, when, in fact, most,
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ifnot all, of their equity had been lost, ACJ has never been registered with the Comtnission as a
CPO, ‘

3, Séttling Defendant Solid View Capi'tal LLC is a limited lability company
registered in the Commonwealth of Puerto Rico (Register No. 2399). Solid View registered with
the Puerto Rico Department of State on Jun'e 30, 2010, The offices of Solid View ate loca'ted at
1400 Ametico Salas, Sulte #1, San Juan, Puerto Rico, Defendant Collazo serves as the president
angd registéred agent of Solid View. Solid View has nevet been registered with the Commission
as a CPO or in any other capacity.

4. Settling Defendant Angel Fernando Collazo is an individual residing in Salinas,
Puerto Rico. He served as Presient of ACJ. Collazo was registoted with the Commission as at
Assoclated Person (“AP”) of ACJ as of October 25, 2007, The NFA withdrew Collazo’s
registration on Janvary 4, 2009 in conjunction with its withdrawal of ACT’s registration, As
noted above, on Februaty 3, 2010, the NFA permanently batred Collazo from membership,"
associate membership and from acting as a principal of an NFA member after finding that he
provided false information to customets about the performance of their accounts and provided
customers with fictitions account statements that showed significant equity iﬁ their aceounts,
when, in fact, most, if not all, of their equity had been lost, Since June 2010, Collazo has served
as the president and registered agent of Solid View.

5. Defendant / Relief Defendant Felgi Investments, Corp. i§ a cotporation
registered in the Commonwealth of Puerto Rico (Register No, 173773). Felgi registored with the
Puetto Rico Department of State on May 31, 2007, The address of Felgi is PMB 505, 200 Ave.

Rafael Cordero, Caguas, Puetto Rico 00725, Defendant Clemente serves as the president,
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- treasurer and registered agent of Folgl, Felgi has never been registered with the Corﬁmission in
any capacity,

6. Defendant / Relief Defendant Fernando Clemente is an individual residing in
Caguas, Puerto Rico, He setves as the president, treasﬁr.er and registered agent of Felgi,
Clemente has nevet been togistered with the Commission'as an AP or in any other capacity.

B, Settling Defendants’ Fraudulent Solicitation of Pool Participants |

7. Duting the relevant petiod, Settling Defendants ACT and Solid View, through
Collazo, fraudulently solicited and accepted approxitately $1,000,000 from at léast 22
individuals or entities fot the purported purpose of trading through a pooled investment vehicle ‘
matiaged by Defendants and in connection with agreements, contracts or transactions in off-
exchange, tetail foreign currency that are matgined or leveraged (“forex™).

8. Initially, Collazo solicited pool participants to place funds with ACJ, Later
Collazo informed pool participants that theit fonds would be placed with Solid View. Duting the
relevant period, Collazo deposited pool participant funds in trading accounts in the names of
both ACT and Solid View and utilized multiple bank accounts in the names of both entitles,
Some pool patticipants executed trading agreements with ACT while others executed trading
agteements with Solid View. Collazo formed and controlled both ACT and Solid View,

9. Collazo solicited pool participants directly and also indirectly through at least one
pooi participant, Felgi, who solicited othets to participate in the forex pool operated by
ACT/Solid View.

10, Ofthe approximately $1 ,000,000 placed with ACY and/or Solid View, Defendants
ACJ and Solid View, through Collazo, received and accepted approximately $490,000 from

Felgl, As compensation for its qﬂ‘ofts, Felgi was to receive a share of the trading profits
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generated by the funds ﬁrovided by its customers to ACJ/Solid View. Under agreements signed
by Collazo, Felgi and each pool patticipant, Felgi promised to pay each pool participant a fixed
rate of intetest of between 8% and 12% per month. Undet its artangement with ACJ/Solid View,
Felgl’s compensation for bringing patticipants to ACJ/Solid View was supposed to vary
according to the difference between monthly trading profits generated by Collazo which wete
atttibutable to each pool participant and the ﬁ)‘céd rate of refurn Felgi promised, Pool participants
placed their funds with Felgi, and those funds wete deposited into a Felgi bank account, Felgi
then transforred those funds to ACI/Solid View.

11, Inhis solicitations, Collazo represented that he would trade foreign cutrency on
behalf of pool patticipants, Collazo told pool participants that their finds would be pooled with
other participant fonds for purposes of trading., Collazo also told pool patticipants that he traded
foreign cuttency using d computer program, Collazo falsely told at least one pool participant
that others had placed more than $7 million with ACJ,

12, Aspart of his s‘cﬂicitations, Collazo told Felgi that his trading wouid generate
profits of between 12% and 15% per m(;nth. Collazo told at least one other pool paiticipant that
he could expect a minimutn 20% monthly return. In addition, Collazo provided at least some
pool participants, including Felgi, with documents purporting to show profitable trading, '

13, Dutlng introductory meetings, Collazo also showed some of ACJ and/or Solid
View’s pool patticipants information on his computer purporting to show profitable trades,

14. ~ Collazo told ACJ and/or Solid View’s pool participants, including Felgi, that he

was an experienced, successful fotex trader, when, in fact, he had an unsuccessful trading record.
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15, In soliciting pool partieipants, Collazo minimized the risk of forex trading,
Collazo told at least one pool participant that it was impossible to lose money using his trading
program,

16,  Duting his solicitations of prospective pool participants and throughout the life of

the forex pool, Collazo failed to disclose to Felgi and at least one other participant that, as of
February 3, 2010, both ACJ and Collazo had been permanepﬂy barred from membetship by the
* NFA in connection with his trading of individual ACT customer managed accounts, Collazo also
failed to inform Felgi and at least one other pool participant that NFA found that ACJ and
Collazo provided false information to managed account customers about the petformance of their
accounts and provided managed account customers fictitious account statements that showed
slpgnificant equity in theit accounts when, in fact, most, if not all, of their equity had been lost.

17.  Defendants ACJ and Solid View, through Collazo, also failed to disclose that they
intended to use pool patticipants’ funds to make payments to other participants and for personal
uses, as alleged below. } .

18, Defendants ACT and Solid View, through Collazo, knowingly or with reckless
distegard of the truth made such matetial misrepresentations and omissions in otder to induce
pool participants to invest and itade with thom.

C Setfling Defendants Were Barely Profitable In Trading and Misappropriated Funds
To Pay Participants and For Personal Use

19, Ofthe approximately $1,000,000 placed by pool participants with ACT/Solid
View, Collazo deposited or transferred approximately $443,000 into six trading accounts,
Collazo deposited pool participant funds into two petsonal trading accounts held in Collazo’s

name and in four proprietary fotex trading accounts, one in the name of ACT and three in the
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name of Solid View. Collazo also wired apptoximately $18,000 of customer funds to anothet,
now defunct, trading entity.

20, During the relevant petiod, Collazo’s trading inthe six trading accounts,
including trading in Collazo’s personal accounts, yielded an ovetall net profit of merely
approximately $51,000. Focusing on the petiod of February 2010 through Decembet 2010, after
11 months of trading, Collazo had sustained net losses actoss the six trading accounts totaling
approximately $95,000,

71,  Ofthe funds not used for trading, Defendants ACJ and Solid View, through
Collazo, misapptoptiated pool funds to make payments of putported trading profits to ACI/Solid
View pool participants, During the relovant petiod, despite net trading profits of approximately
$51,000, Defendants ACT and Solid View, through Collazo, made payments of approximately
$200,000 to Felgl, In addition, Defendants ACYT and Solid View made payments to at least one
non-Felgi pool partioipant of approximately $128,000.

29, Duting the relevant petiod, Defendants ACJ and Solid View, through Collazo,
misappropriated pool funds to pay Collazo’s petgonal expenses.

D, Setling Defendants ACT, Solid View and Collazo Concealed Trading Results and -
Misappropriation through False Statements

73, Despite the actual bately profitable overall trading results and the eleven months
whete Collazo sustained net losses, Defendants ACJ and Solid View, through Collazo, provided
monthly account statements to Felgl reflecting purported trading profits of approximately
$366,000. Defendants ACT and Solid View, through Collazo, also provided monthly staternents
to at least one non-Pelgi pool participant teflecting purported frading profits of approximately
$152,000, None of the statements provided by Defendants ACT and Solid View to Felgi and at

least one non-Felgi pool participant teflected any frading losses, .

10 -
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24. . During the relevant perlod, Collazo provided to Clemente, as the representative of
Felgi, péges of putported ACY bank stafetnents showing stbstantial transfers to vatious
individuals, Collazo explained to Felgi, through Clemente, that the purported payments
reptesented disbursements to people wﬁo placed money with ACJ, However, the purported bank
statements wete fabricatod and falsé. The purported bank statements did not acourately reflect
the true activity in the account or the ttading results that had been achieved by ACI.

25.  During the relevant period, in addition to providing false monthly statements
showing consistently pi’oﬁtable trading, Collazo also made false verbal representations to pool
© patticipants that his trading was making money.

26.  Based on the monthly account stlatements showing consistently profitable trading,
Felgi, through Clemente, solicited additional individuals and entities that placed funds with
ACJ/Solid View through Felgi and Clemente, In addition, at least one non-Felgi pool patticipant
placed an additional $160,000 with Solid View based on the false verbal reptesentations and
false account statements he received from Collazo.

27.  Intotal, the purported trading statements issued by Defendants ACJ and Solid
View to pool patticipants did not acourately reflect the actual trading results achieved by
Collazo, The trading statements also did not reflect that Defendants ACJ and Solid View wore
not using all the pool participants™ funds for purposes of trading, but instead, were using some of
the funds to male payments to pool participants and for petsonal uses, as alleged above,

28. ' Defendants ACJ, Solid View and Collazo, though Collazo, knowingly or with
reckless distegard for the truth concealed their fraud and the truth of their trading results by

making such material misrepresentations and omisgions concetning the value and profitability of

customers’ accounts,

11
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E.  Collnzo Controlled ACY and Solid View

29.  Collazo is the president and registered agent of both ACT and Solid View. He has
virtually complete authority ovet, and day-to-day control of; both entlties. He does not report to
anyone. Collazo controlled the ttading of all pool partictpant funds, including those placed with
ACY/Solid View through Felgi, Collazo also was the authorized signatory on th;a bank accounts
of ACY and Solid View and wag responsible for the handling and disposition of pool participant
funds.

I The Natare of the Transactions
30.  Neither Defendants ACJ, Solid View and Collazo nor the possible couriterparties

to the forex transactions they conducted were United States financial institutions, registered
brokers oz dealf;rs, insurance companties, financial holding companies, investment bank holding
companies, ot the assoclated personé of financial institutions; tegistered brokers or dealers,
insurance compantes, financlal holding companies, or investment bank holding companies,

31, Some or all of pool participants wéte not “eligible contract patticipants” (“ECP”)
as that term is defined in Section 1a(l 8}(A)(xi) of the Act, as amended by the CRA and the
Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act of 2010, Public L. 111203, §§
701774, 124 Stat, 1376 (effective July 16, 2010)(*Dodd-Fiank Act”)(to be codified at 7 U.S.C.
§ 1a(18)(A)(x1)). Nor were émy of the pool participants ECPs as that term was defined priot to
July 16, 2010. See 7 U.S.C. § 1la(12)(A)(x1) (Supp. 111 2009). An ECP, as relevant here, is an
individual who has total assets in an amount in excess of (i) $10 million or (if) $5 million and
who enters into the transaotiém in order to manage risk.

" 2. Thefotek transactions Seftling Defondants ACY, Sofid View and Collazo

putpottedly conducted on behalf of the pool participants were entered into on a leveraged ot

12
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mgrgined basts, Accordingly, Settling Defendants were required to provide only a percentage of
the value of the forex contracts that they purchased. The forgx transactions Settling Defendants
purpottedly condueted neither resulted in the delivery of actual cutrency wit}ﬁn two days nor
created an enforceable obligation to deliver actual cutrency between a seller and a buyet that had
the ability fo deliver and accept delivery, respectively, in conneotion with their fines of business.
Ra;cher, these forex contracts putportedly remained open from day to day and ultimately wete
offset without anyone making or taking delivery of actual curreney (or facing an enforceable

obligation to do so).

G, Settling Defendants ACY and Solid View Each Acted as Unregistered Forex
Commodity Pool Operators, and Settling Defendant Collazo Acted as an
Uniregistered Associated Person
33.  Pursuantto Section 2(c)(2)(C)(Jit)(I)(cc) of the Act, as amended by the CRA, 7

U.S.C. § 2(c)(2)(C)(i)(I)(ce) (Supp. 1T 2009), any petson must be registered pursuant to a

Commigsion Regulation or Rule in order to operate o solicit funds for any pooled investment

vehicle that is not an ECP in connection with forex transactions.

34.  Pursuant to Commission Regulation 5.1(d)(1), 17 CF.R. § 5.1(d)(1) (2011),
effective on October 18, .201.0, any person who opexates ot solicits funds, secutities, or propetty
for a pooled investment vehiole that is not an ECP, as defined in Section 1a(18)(iv) of the Act, as
amended by the CRA and the Dodd-Frank Act (to be codified at 7 U.S.C. § 1a(18)(iv)), aﬁd that
engages in retail forex transactions is defined as a CPO,

35, Section 1a(18)(iv) of the Act, as amended by the CRA and the Dodd-Frank Act

(to be codified at 7 U.8.C. § 1a(18)(iv)), defines an BCP as, “a commodity pool that — (1) has

/j/a :

total assets exceeding $5,000,000; and (1) is formed and operated by a person subject to

regulation under [the] Act.... provided, however, that for purposes of section 2(c)(2)(B)(iv) and

13
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section 2(0)(2)(C)(vi§), the term. ‘eliglble contract patticipant’ shall not include a commodity
pool in which any participant is not other@'se an eligible conttact participant.”

36,  The fotex pool opetated by Defendants ACY and Solid View is not an ECP,

37, Commission Regulation 5.3()(2)(®), 17 CF.R. § 5.3(2)(2){) (201 1), requires any
person ot entlty acting as a CPO, as defined by Commission Regulation 5.1(d)(1), to be

]

registered as such,

38, r.l‘hroughou‘c the relevant period, ACJ and Solid View each acted as a CPO as
defined by Commission Regulation 5.1(d)(1), relating to off-exchange foreign ourréngy
transactions, because they o'perated or solicited funds for a pooled investment vehicle that is not

_an BCP, as defined in Sectjon 1a(l 8)(1v) of the Act, as amended by the CRA and the Dodd-Frank
Act (to be codified at 7 U.S.C. §1a(18)(iv)), and engaged in tetail forex ttansactlons. ‘ACT and
Solid View failed to tegistet as CPOs in violation of Section 2(c)(2)(C)(iit)(I)(co), as amended
bythe CRA, 7US.C. § 2(e)(2)() () (ec) (Supp. ML 2009), and Commission Regulation
53@)(@2)(1), 17 CER, § 5.3()(2)({)(2011).

39, Commission Regulation 5,1(d)(2) defines an AP ofa CPO as “any natural person
associated with a commodity pool opetator ... as a pattner, officer, employee, consultant ot
agent .. in any capacity which involves: (1) [t]he solicitation of funds, securities or property for
a patticipation in a pooled investment vehicle.” 17 CER. § 5.1(d)(2) (2011).

40, Section 2(c)(2)(C)GH)I)(ee), 7 US.C. §2(c)(2)(C)EDE (e0) (Supp- 111 2009), and
Commission Regulation 5,3(2)(2)(if), requite that any petson who acts as an AP of a CPO must
be registered with the Commission as such. 17 CER. § 5.3(a)(2)(1) (2011),

41, During the relevant period, Collazo acted as an AP of CPOg as defined by

Commyission Regulation 5.1(d)(2), relating to off-exchange foreign curtency transactions,

14
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because he were associated with CPOs i a capacity involving the solicitation of funds for
patticipation in a pooled investment vehicle, During the relevant period, Collazo was not
registored as an AP of ACT or Solid View.

Conclusions of Law

42,  This Court has jurisdiction over this action pursuant td Section 6¢(a) of the Act,
7U.8.C. § 13a-1 (2006), and Section 2(c)(2)(C) of the Act, as amended by the CRA, 7 U.8.C.

§ 2(c)(2)(C) (Supp. 1L 2009),

43,  Section 6c(a) authorizes the Commission to seek injunctive relief in disttict court
against any person whenever it shall appear to the Commission thaﬁ such person hag engaged, is
engagling, ot is about to engage in any act or practice constituting a violation of the Act or any
1ule, regulation, or order theteunder. In addition, this section anthorizes the Commission to bring
a clvil action in distict court fo enforce compliatice with the Act ot any rule, regulation or ordqr
therennder, ’

44,  Venue propetly lies with this Court pursuant to Section 6¢(e) of the Act, 7 U.S.C,
§ 13a-1(e) (2006), becauge Settling Defendants are found, inhabit, reside and/or transact business
in the Distuict of Puetto Rico, and cettain of the fransactions, acts, practices, and coutses of
business alleged to have violated the Act occurted, ate oceutting, and/ot ate about to oceut
within t'his District,

45, Bythe conduct described in Section ILB thtough I1,G above, Settling Defendants
violated Sections 4b(a)(2)(A)-(C) of the Act, as amended by the CRA, 7 U.S.C, §§ 6b(a)(2)(A)-

(C) (Supp. 11X 2009), and Commission Regulations 5.2(b) and 5.3(a)(2)(1), 17 CF.R. §§ 5.2(b)

and 5.3(a)(Q)@)2011).

15
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46.  Asof October 18, 2010, Defendants ACJ and Solid View failed to tegister with
the Commission as CPOs in violation of Section 2(c)(2)(C)A)(I)(co) of the Act, as amended by

the CRA, 7U.8.C. § 2()2)(C)(H)(D(ce) (Supp. T 2009), and Commission Regulation

" 53)(2)() 17 CER. § 53@Q)( 2011).

47, - As of October 18, 2010, Defendant Collazo failed to register with the
Commission as an AP of a CPO in violation of Section 2(e))(C)iii) (1) (o) of the Act, as
amended by the CRA, 7 U.S.C. § 2(c)(2)(C) I (ce)(Supp. 1T 2009), and Commission
Regulation § 5.3(a)(2)()), 17 CER. § 5.3(@)(2)0D) (2011).

48,  The acts, mistepresentations, omisslons, and failures of Collazo desctibed in
Section ILB thtough IL.G aboye oveurred within the scope of his employment, office ot agency
with ACT and Solid View. Thetefore, ACY and Solid View ate liable under Section 2(a)(1)(B) of
the Act, 7 U.S.C. § 2(2)(1)(B) (2006) and Regulation 1.2, 17 CER, § 1.2 (2011), for violations
committed by Collazo. (

49.  Collazo is & controlling petson of ACY and Solid View and failed to act in good
faith or knowingly induced, directly or indirectly, the acts constituting ACT’s and Solid View’s
violations of the Act and Regulations as found above, Therefore, Collazo s liable for ACT's and
Solid View's violations of Act and Regulations pursuant to Seotion 13(b) of the Act, 7 U.S.C,

§ 13e(b) (2006). ’
111, | PERMANENT INJUNCTION

IT IS HEREBY ORDERED THAT:

L Based on and in connection with the foregoing conduet, pursuant to Section 6¢ of
the Act, as amended, 7 U.S.C. § 13a-1, Settling Defendants ate petmanently restrained, enjoined,

and prohibited from directly or indirectly, in or in connection with any order to mals, ox the
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maling of, atry contract of sale of any commodity for future delivery, or other agreement,
contract, ot transaction subject to paragtaphs (1) and (2) of Section 5a(g) of the Act, that s made,
of to be made, for or on behalf of, or with, any other petson, othet than on ot subject to the rules
of a designated contract market-
(@)  cheating or defranding ot attenpting to cheat or defvaud the other
person;
" (b)  willfully making or causing to be made to the other person any false report
or statement or willfully entering or causing to be entered for the other petson any
false record; or .
()  willfully deceiving or attempting to deceive the other person by any means
whatsoever in tegard to any otder or contract or the disposition o execution of
any otdet ot contract, ot In regatd to aty act of agency performed, with respect to
any order or contact for or, in the case of patagraph (2) of Section Sa(g) of the
Act, with the other person
in violation of Section 4b(a)(2)(A) of the Act, as amended by the Dodd-Frank Wall Street
Reform and Consumer P;rotection Act of 2010 (“Dodd-Frank Act”), Pub, L, No, 111-203, Title
VII (the Wall Street Transpatency and Accountability Act of 2010), §§ 701-774, 124 Stat. 1376
(enacted July 21, 2010), to be codified at 7 U.S.C, § 6b(a)(2)(A) and Commission Regulation
52(b), 17 CFR. § 5.2(b) (2011);
9. Seftling Dofendants ACT and Solid View ate also permanently restrainied,
enjoined, and prohibited from, directly or indireotly, oporating ot soliciting funds, secutities ot
property for any pooled investment yehicle that is not an ECP in conmection with agteoments,

contracts, ot transactions described in clause (i) of Section 2¢c)(2)(C) of the Act, as amended by
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the CRA, 7U.8.C. § 2()(2)(C)A(Supp. 111 2005), entered into with or to be entered into with a
petson who is not desoribed in item (a2), (bb), (dd), (ee) or (ff) of Section 2(e)(2)(B)A)(I) of the
Act, 7 U.8.C. § 2()2)B)ODSupp. IIL §009), withont being registered to do so by the
Commission, in violation of Section 2(0)2)(C)AD(ee), 7 U.S.C. § 2(c)(2) (©)di)D)(co)(Supp.
II1 2009) and Commission Regulation 5 3@, 17 CER. § 5.3()2)() (201 1),

3 Seftling Defendant Collazo is also permanently restrained, enjoined, and
prohibited from direotly or inditectly operating ot soliciting funds, securities ot property for any
pooled investment vehicle that is not an ECP in connection with agreemeﬂts, oontraots, oi
transactions described in clause (i) of Section 2(0)(2)(05 of the Act, as amended by the CRA,
7U.8.C. § 2(0)(2)(C)A)(Supp. 1 2009), entered into w1th orto be entered info with a person
who is not described in item (aa), (bb), (dd), (ee) ot (£f) of Section 2(c)(2)(B)(E)(1L) of the Act,
7U.8.C. § 2(c)(2)B)DI(Supp. 1L 2009), without being registered to do so by the
Commission, in violation of Section 2()2)(O))D (ee), 7US.C. § 2()2)CY(i)I)(ce)(Supp.
IIL 2009) and Commission Regulation 5.3(a)(2)(1), 17 CER. § 5.3()2)({) (201 1).

4, Settling Defendants ate also permanently testrained, enjoined, and prohibited -
from directly or indirectly:

(a)  trading on or subjeot to the rules of any registered entity, as that term is
defined in Section 1a of the Act;

(b)  entering into any fi'ansaotions involving commodity futures, options on
commodity fututes, commodity options (as that term is defined in Regulation
1.3(bh), 17 CER. § 1.3(hh) (2011)) (“commodity options”), security futures
products, and/or foreign oun‘ehcy (as desctibed in Sections 2(c)(2)(B) and

2(0)(2)(C)G) of the Act, as amended, 7U.8.C. §8 2()2)(B) and 2(c)(2)(C)D)

18




Case 3:12-cv-01083-JAF Document 67  Filed 02/13/13 Page 19 of 28

(“fotex contracts”™) for their own petsonal account ot for any accourt in which they
have a ditect ot indirect interest;

(¢)  havingany commodity fotures, options on commodity fatures, commodity
options, security futures products, and/or forex contracts traded on their behalf;
(d)  controlling or directing the trading for or on behalf of any other petson or
entit&, whethet by power of attothey or otherwise, in any account involving
commodity futures, options on commodity fotures, commodity options, secutity
futu‘res products, and/or forex contracts;

()  soliciting, receiving or accepting any funds from any petson for the
purpose of pufchasing o selling any commodity futures, options on commodity
futures, coﬁamodity options, secutity fututes products, and/or forex contraots;

() - applying for registration or claiming exemption fiom registration with the
Commission in any capacity, and engaging il any activity requiting such
registration or exemption from re gistration with the Commission except as
provided for in Regulation 4.14(a)(9), I1'7 CER, § 4.14(a)(9) (2011); and/ot

(g)  acling as a principal (as that term is defined in Regulation 3,1(a), 17
C.FR. § 3.1(a) (2011)), agent, officer or employee of any petson (as that tetm 18
defined in Section 1a of the Act, 7U.S.C. § 1(a)) registeted, exempted from
tegistration ot required to be tegistered wifh the C'ommission, except a;<; provided

for I Regulation 4,14()(9), 17 CER. § 4.14(2)(9) (2011).
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IV. RESTITUTION AND CIVI[, MONETARY PENALTY

IT1S HEREBY FURTHER ORDERED THAT:
A, Restitution

1. Settling Defendants shall pay, jointly and severally, restitution in the amount of
Bight Hundted Forty Three Thougand, Four Hundred Forty Four dollats and Sixty cents
- ($843,444.60) (the “Restitution Obligation”), plus post-judgment interest, Postjudgment
interest on the Restitution Obligation shall acctue commencing on the date of the eniry of this
Consent Order and shall be determined using the Treasury Bill rate prevailirig on the date of the
entry of this Consent Order pursuant to 28 U.S.C, § 1961 (2006).

2, To effect payment of the Restitution Obligation and the distribution of any
testitution payments to Defendants’ pool pal"ticipants, the Court appoints the NFA as Monitor
(¢ ‘Monitor”); The Monitor shall collect restitution payments from Settling Defenidants and make
distributions as set forth below to those patticipants identified in Attachment A heteto. Because
the Monitor is acting as an officer of this Court in performing these setvices, the Monttor shall
not be Hable for any action or inaction atising from NFA’s appointment as Monitot, other than
actions involving fraud,

3 Upon receipt of a copy of thig Congent Ordet, any financial institution holding
funds in the names of Settling Defendants frozen putsuant o the Fobruary 9, 2012 Statutory
Restraining Otder entered by this Court shall releage those funds to the Monitor, Any frozen
funds teleased to the Monitor shall be applied against the Restitution Obligation and returned to
participants in accordance with the requirements qf this Consent Order,

4, Setiling Defendants shall make Restitution Obligation payments under this

Consent Otdet to the Monitor in the name “ACJ/Solid View Settlement/Restitution Fﬁnd” and
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shall send such Restitution Obligation payments by electronic funds transfer, or by U.S, postal
money order, certified check, bank cashiet’s check, or bank money otdet, to the Office of
'Administration, National Futures Association, 300 South Riverside Plaza, Suite 1800, Chicago,
Tltinois 60606 undet cover lettet that idontifies the paying Settliing Defendant and the name and
docket numbet of this proceeding, The paying Settling Defendant shall simultaneously transmit
copies of the cover letter and the form of payment to the Chief Financial Officer, Commodity
Fututes Trading Commission, Three Lafayette Centre, 1155 21st Street, NW, Washington, D.C.
20581, |

5, The Monitor shall oversee the Restitution Obligation and shall have the discretion
to determine the manner of distribution of such funds it an equitable fashion to Settling
Defendants’ pool participants identified by the Commission or may defer disttibution until such
titne ag the Monitor dests appropriate, Flowever, any pro rata shate due to putported pool
participant Clemron Properties, Inc. shall be held by the Monitor pending completion of this case
and determination of potential liability as to Defendants Felgi Investments Cotp. and Fernando
Clemente, freasurer and registered agent of Clemron Properties, Inc. In the event that the amount
of Restitution Obligation payments to the Monitor ate of a de mintmis nature such. that the
Monitor determines that the administrative cost of making a distiibution to eligible pool
participants is impractical, the Monitor may, in its discretion, treat such restitution payments as
olvil monetary penalty payments, which the Monitor shall forward to the Commission following
the instructions for civil monetary penalty payments set forth in below,

6. Settling Defendants shall cooperate with the Monitor as approptiate to provide

such information as the Monitor deems necessary and appropriate to identify Settling

Defendants’ pool patticipants to whom the Monitor, in its sole disctetion, may determine to
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include in any plan for distribution of any Restitution Obligation payménts. Settling Defondants
shall execute any documents necessary'to release funds that they ha\;e in any repository, bank,
investment ot other financial institution, wherever located, in order to n;lake pattial ot total
payment toward the Restitwtion Obligation.

7. The Monitor shall provide the Commission at the beginning of each calendar yeat
with a tepott detailing the disbursement of funds to Settling Defendants’ pool participants duting
the ptevious year, The Monttor shall transmit this report under a cover letter that identifies the
name and docket number of this proceeding to the Chief Financial Officet, Commodify Futures
Trading Commission, Theee Lafayette Centre, 1155 215t Street, NW, Washington, D.C, 20581,

8. The amounts payable to each pool participant shall not limit the ability of any
pool participant from proying that a greater amount is owed from Settling Defandénts ot any
other petson ot entity, and nothing berein shall be construed in any way to limit or abridge the
rights of any pool patticipant that exist under state ot common law.

9 Putsuant to Rule 71 of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedute, each pool participant
| of Settling Defendants who suffered a loss is explicitly. made an intended third-party beneficiaty -
of this Consent.Order and may seek to enforce obedience of this Consent Ordet to obtain
satisfaction of any portion. of the Restitution Obligation that has not been paid by Settling
Defendants to ensure continued compliance with any provision of this Consent Ordet and to hold
Settling Defendants in conterpt for any violations of any provision of this Consent Ordet.

10.  To the extent that any funds acctue to the U.S. Treasury for satisfaction of the

Restitution Obligation, such funds shall be transferred to the Monitor for disbutsement in

accordance with the procedures set forth above.
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B. Civil Monetary Penalty
11, Settling Defendants shall, joinily and severally, pay a civil monetaty penaity in
the amount of Seven Hundred Fifty Thousand dollats ($750,000) (“CMP Obligation”), plus post-
Judgent intereét. Post-judgment interest shall accrue on the CMP Obligation beginning on the
date of entry of this Consent Order and shall be determined by using the Treasury Bill rate
prevailing on the date of entry of thig Consent Order pursvant to 28 U.S.C, § 1961 (2006).
12, Settling Defendants shall pay their CMP Obligation by electronic funds transter,

1.8, postal money ordet, certified check, bank cashiet’s check, or bank money order, If payment
is to be made other than by electronic funds transfer, then the payment shall be made payable to
the Commodity Futures Trading Comumission and sent to the address below:

Commodity Futures Trading Commission

Division of Bnforcement

ATTN: Accounts Recetvables —~ AMZ 340

E-mail Box: 9-AMC-AMZ-AR-CFTC

DOT/FAA/MMAC

6500 S, MacAxthur Blvd,

Oklahoma City, OK 73169

Telephone: (405) 954-5644
If payment by electronic funds transfer s chosen, Settling Defendants shall contact Linda
Zurhorst ot her successor at the address above to receive payment instructions and shall fully
comply with those instructions, Settling Defendants shall accompany payment of the CMP
Obligation with a cover letter that identifies the Settling Defendants and the name and docket
number of this proceeding, The Settling Defendants shall simultaneously transmit copies of the
cover letter and the form of payment to the Chief Financial Officer, Commodity Futures Trading

\

Commission, Three Lafayette Centre, 1155 21st Street, NW, Washington, D.C. 20581,
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C.  Provisions Related to Monetary Sanctions

13, Partial Satisfaction: Any acceptance by the Commission. or the Monitor of partial
payment of Settling Defendants’ Restitution Obligation or CMP Obligation shall not be deetmed
a walver of thelr obligation to make further payments pursuant to this Consent Order, or a waiver
of the Contmission’s right to seek to compel payment of any remaining balanos,

D, Coapexation

14, - Settling Defendants shall coopetate fully and expeditiously with the Commission,
including the Commission’s Division of Enforcement, and any other govetnmental agenoy in. this
action, and in any investigation, clvil Iiﬁgatiqn, ot administrative matter related to the subject

(matter of this action ot any cutrent ot future Commission investigation related thereto.

V.  MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS

L Notice: All notices tequired to be given by any provision in this Consent Order
shall be sent certified mail, return receipt tequested, as follows:

Notice to Commission:

Gretchen Lowe

Associate Director

Division of Enforcetnent

United States Commodity Futures Trading Commission
1155 21 Street, N;W.

Washington, D.C. 20581

Notice to Settling Defendants:

Angel Fernando Collazo
Utrb, Las Mercedes
Calle 4,# 6

Salinas, P.R. 00751

All such notices to the Commission shafl reference the name and docket munbet of this action,
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9. - Change of Address/Phone: Until such time as Séttling Defendants satisfy in full
their Restitution Obligation and Obligation, and CMP Obligation as set forth in tﬁis Consenit
Order, Settling Defendants shall ptovide weltten notice to the Commission by certified mail of
any change to theit telephone number(s) and mailing address(es) within tén (10) caléndar days of
the change. ‘

3, Entite Agreement and Amendments: This Consent Order incorporates all of the
terms and conditions of the settlement among the patties hersto to date. Nothing shall serve to
amend or ﬁodify this Congent Otder in any respect whatsoever, unless! (a) reduced to writing;
(b) signed by all parties hereto; and (o) approved by order of this Court,

4, Tnvalidation; If any provision of this Consent Oxder ot if the application of any
provision ot oirgumstance is held invalid, then the remainder of this Consent Order and the
application of the provision to any othet pezson o citcumstance shall not be affected by the
holding,

3, Waiver: The failute of any party to this Consent Ordet ot of any pool participant
at any time to tequire performance of any provision of this Consent Otder shall in no manhet
affect the tight of the party ot pool patticipant at a latet time 1o enforce the same ot any othet
provision of tﬁis Consent Otder. No waiver in one or more instances of the breach of any
provision contained in this Consent Order shall be deemed to be ot construed as a further or
' continuing waiver of such breach or waiver of the breach of any othet provision of this Consent
Order.

6. Acknowledgements: Upon being setved with copies of this Consent Otder after
entry by the Court, Settling }Defendants shall éig’n acknowledgements of such service and serve

such acknowledgements on the Coutt and the Commission within 30 calendar days.
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7. Continuing Juisdiction of this Coutt: This Court shall retain jutisdiction of this
action to ensure compliance with this Consent Order and for all other purposes related to this
action, including any motion by Settling Defendants to modify or for relief from the terms of this.
Consent Order,

8. Injunctive and Equitable Relief Provisions: The injunctive and equitable relisf
provisions of this Consent Order shall be binding upon Selfling Defendants, upon any petson
under their authority or control, and upc;n any person who receives actual notice of this Consent
Ordet, by personal setvice, e-matl, facsimile or otherwise insofar as he o1 she is acting in active
concett ox patticipation with Settling Defendants, |

9. Authority: Collazo heteby watrants that he is President of ACY .and Solid View,
that this Consent Order has been c{uly atthotized by ACJ and Solid View, and that he hag been
duly empoweted to sign and submit this Consenfc Order on behalf of ACJ and Solid View.

10, Counterpatts and Facsimile Execution:- This Consent Order may be executed in
two ot mote counterparts, all of which shall be consideted one and the same agteetnent and shall
become effective when one or more countetparts have been signed by each of the parties hereto
and deliveted (by facsimile, e-mail, or otherwise) to the other part.y, it being understood that all
parties need not sign the same counterpart, Any conntetpart or other signature to this Consent
Order that Is delivered by any means shall be deemed for all purposes as constituting good and
valid execution and delivery by such patties of this Consenit Ordet.

11,  Settling Defendants understand that the terms of the Consent Order ate
enforceable through contempt proceedings, and that, in any such proceedings they may not

challenge the validity of this Consent Order,
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'Phere being no just reason for delay, the Clerk of the Coutt is hereby dirceled to enter
this Consent Order for Infunctive Relief, Clvil Monetary Denaliies and Other Baquitable Relief

Against Defendants ACT Capltal, tne., Solid View Capital LLC and Angel Fernando Colluzo,

Tr I8 SO ORPERED on this 13 duy of __February--------RK8x 20 13.

S /JOSE ANTONIO FUSTE
JOSE AL FUSTE
UNITED STATES DISTRICT JUDGE

CONSENTED 'TO AND APPROVED BY:

AT .Cé\“[.J‘ihll\, fiC, I \Q‘i“
By: Angel Fernando Collavzo - g\\ﬁ

e ezl

Jmncstpﬁh
Commodity Fu 1\rks Trading Commission

- 1155 21" Strest, N.W,

RN AN A Washinglon, .C. 20581

Solid View Capital LLT (202) 418-5362

Ry: Angel Ternando Collazo Jgarcia@iele.gov

I)n[‘e: ?’(%J\ L

Al
Angel Ferndido Collaza, indiyidunlly

Pale & l 7 {l o

e
Daled W \ (o \
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ATTACHMENT A

Restitution Amount

Pool Participant Name
Alberto Salgado Melendez $20,349.00
Carmen Guerra Castellanos $44,260.00
Cesar Hernandez $25,000,00
Clemrom Properties inc. $25,000.00
Demis . Perez Molina $15,389.54
Freddie Acevedo / Sandra Suarez $265,000.00
Gerardo Alvarey Ramos $21,871.60
{Glselle Clemente Albors $5,200.00
Hedson Zavala $132,178.86
Javier Salgado : $25,000,00
Jorge A. Maldonado Perez / Lisdel M, Flores Barger $23,070.00
Jose Hernandez Martinez $30,000,00
Jose Rodriguez Benlter $75,000.00
Juan Alamany $25,000,00
Luis A, Clemente Romaguera $3,120.00
Lutis Vazquer Resto $25,000.00
Nestor J, Santlago Rivera $48,020,00
Viclor J, Ortlz / Del Mar Contractars $:18,510.00

Waleska Perez Garcia

$16,475,60

Tolal Restitution Amount

$843,444,50




